Enlèvement d'enfants Child Abduction



Mars / March 2003

RAPPORT ET CONCLUSIONS DE LA COMMISSION SPECIALE CONCERNANT LA CONVENTION DE LA HAYE DU 25 OCTOBRE 1980 SUR LES ASPECTS CIVILS DE L'ENLEVEMENT INTERNATIONAL D'ENFANTS 27 SEPTEMBRE – 1 OCTOBRE 2002

établis par le Bureau Permanent

* * *

REPORT AND CONCLUSIONS OF THE SPECIAL COMMISSION CONCERNING THE HAGUE CONVENTION OF 25 OCTOBER 1980 ON THE CIVIL ASPECTS OF INTERNATIONAL CHILD ABDUCTION 27 SEPTEMBER - 1 OCTOBER 2002

drawn up by the Permanent Bureau

RAPPORT ET CONCLUSIONS DE LA COMMISSION SPECIALE CONCERNANT LA CONVENTION DE LA HAYE DU 25 OCTOBRE 1980 SUR LES ASPECTS CIVILS DE L'ENLEVEMENT INTERNATIONAL D'ENFANTS 27 SEPTEMBRE – 1 OCTOBRE 2002

établis par le Bureau Permanent

* * *

REPORT AND CONCLUSIONS OF THE SPECIAL COMMISSION CONCERNING THE HAGUE CONVENTION OF 25 OCTOBER 1980 ON THE CIVIL ASPECTS OF INTERNATIONAL CHILD ABDUCTION 27 SEPTEMBER - 1 OCTOBER 2002

drawn up by the Permanent Bureau

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	LIST OF PARTICIPANTS					
2.	INTRODUCTION					
2.1	Terms of reference, representation and chairmanship1					
2.2	Preliminary Documents and Agenda 12					
3.			F THE CONVENTION			
	CURRENT STATUS OF THE CONVENTION					
4.	GUIDE TO GOOD PRACTICE: PART I: CENTRAL AUTHORITY PRACTICE					
4.1	Background to developing the Guide to Good Practice1					
4.2	Fundamental principles for approving and using the Guide					
4.3	Кеу Ор	erating Pri	nciples			
4.4	4 Establishing and consolidating the Central Authority					
4.5	Central Authority procedures for abduction applications					
	4.5.1	Role of the Requesting Central Authority (outgoing abduction applications)				
		4.5.1.1 4.5.1.2 4.5.1.3 4.5.1.4 4.5.1.5	Hand written applications19Article 15 declarations19Safe return of the child19Translation of documents20Providing additional information promptly20			
	4.5.2	Role of th	e Requested Central Authority (incoming abduction applications) 20			
		4.5.2.1 4.5.2.2 4.5.2.3 4.5.2.4 4.5.2.5 4.5.2.6 4.5.2.7	Locating the child			
4.6	Access applications					
4.7	Education and training 23					
	4.7.1 Working with police					
4.8	3 Issues surrounding safe return of children and parents		g safe return of children and parents			
4.9	Prevention and enforcement: proposal for two new sections 24					
5.	GUIDE TO GOOD PRACTICE: PART II: IMPLEMENTING MEASURES					
5.1	Definitions					
5.2	Key Operating Principles					
5.3	The path to signature and ratification or accession					
5.4	Methods of implementation					
5.5	Central Authorities					
5.6	Organisation of the Courts					

5.7	Legal procedural matters 28				
5.8	Legal aid and assistance				
5.9	Access applications 2				
5.10	Aids to interpretation				
5.11	Facilitating acceptance of accessions 2				
5.12	Implementation: a continuing process				
5.13	Amendments				
6.	PUBLICATION OF THE GUIDE				
7.	TRANSFRONTIER ACCESS / CONTACT				
7.1	Introduction				
7.2	General nature of the problem and the role of the law				
7.3	The role played by the 1980 Convention				
7.4	Rights of access: law and practice under the 1980 Convention		33		
7.5	Elements of the framework for resolving international access / contact disputes				
	7.5.1 7.5.2 7.5.3	Jurisdiction, recognition and enforcement National laws and procedures (including enforcement procedures) Important developments at regional and national levels	33		
7.6	Looking	to the future	34		
	7.6.1 7.6.2 7.6.3 7.6.4 7.6.5	A binding instrument - a Protocol to the 1980 Convention The 1996 Hague Convention on the Protection of Children Non-binding Recommendations and/or a Guide to Good Practice Judicial Co-operation Mediation	34 35 35		
8.	CHILD ABDUCTION AND TRANSFRONTIER ACCESS: BILATERAL				
	CONVEN	TIONS AND ISLAMIC STATES	37		
9.	COMMUN	AL MECHANISMS FOR FACILITATING DIRECT INTERNATIONAL JUDICIAL NICATIONS IN THE CONTEXT OF THE HAGUE CONVENTION OF			
• •		DBER 1980 ON THE CIVIL ASPECTS OF INTERNATIONAL CHILD ABDUCTION			
9.1	Introduction				
9.2	Developments following the March 2001 Special Commission				
9.3	Presentation of the Preliminary Report				
9.4	The feasibility and/or desirability of the appointment of a liaison judge or authorit and the administrative aspects				
9.5	The practical and legal aspects				
9.6	Discussion of future work				
10.	INCASTA	T: DEVELOPMENT OF A STATISTICAL DATABASE	44		
	x 1 - coi	NCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	45		

1. LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

REPRESENTANTS D'ETATS MEMBRES DE LA CONFERENCE ET D'ETATS PARTIES A LA CONVENTION REPRESENTATIVES FOR MEMBER STATES OF THE CONFERENCE AND STATES PARTIES TO THE CONVENTION

AFRIQUE DU SUD / SOUTH AFRICA

Mrs Barbara HECHTER, Chief Family Advocate, Department of Justice, Pretoria

ALBANIE / ALBANIA

Mrs *Natasha HODAJ*, General Director, Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, National Social Service, Tirana

Mr Genci LIKA, Head of Public and Foreign Relations Department, Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, National Social Service, Tirana

ALLEMAGNE / GERMANY

Mr Matthias HEGER, Chef du Service Procédure civil internationale, Ministère fédéral de la Justice, Berlin Mr Horst HEITLAND, Regierungsdirektor, Ministry of Justice, Berlin Mr Siegfried WILLUTZKI, Professor Mr Jürgen BECKER, Third Secretary, Embassy of the Federal Republic of Germany, The Hague Mr Hans-Michael VEITH, Oberstaatsanwalt beim Bundesgerichtshof, Bonn

ARGENTINE / ARGENTINA

Ms *María del Carmen SEOANE DE CHIODI*, Ministry of Foreign Relations, Buenos Aires Mr *Carlos A. ROMANO*, Judge for the Province of Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires

AUSTRALIE / AUSTRALIA

Ms Rosa SALADINO, Senior Legal Officer, International Family Law Section, Attorney General's Department, Barton

The Honourable Justice Joseph KAY, Judge of the Appeal Division of the Family Court of Australia, Melbourne

Ms *Ruth ANDREW*, Senior Legal Officer, Legal Services Branch, Department of Human Services, Melbourne

Ms Samantha PATTERSON, Legal Officer, International Family Law Section, Attorney General's Department, Barton

AUTRICHE / AUSTRIA

Mr Werner SCHÜTZ, Deputy Director General, Federal Ministry of Justice, Vienna Mrs Gudrun DÜRRIGL, Judge, Federal Ministry of Justice, Vienna

BÉLARUS / BELARUS

Mr Nikolai BUZO, Counsellor, Embassy of the Republic of Belarus, The Hague

BELGIQUE / BELGIUM

Mme *Irène LAMBRETH*, Conseiller général au Service public fédéral justice, Bruxelles Mme *Bénédicte MAUDOUX*, Conseiller adjoint et Chef de service, Service Public Fédéral Justice

BRÉSIL / BRAZIL

Mr *Gustavo BADARÓ*, Head – Ad hoc Advisor to the Central Authority, the State Secretariat for Human Rights of the Ministry of Justice, Brazil Ms *Janine-Monique BUSTANI*, Counsellor, Embassy of Brazil, The Hague

Ms Tatiana Gomes BUSTAMANTE E OITICICIA, Legal Branch, Ministry of External Relations, Brazil

BULGARIE / BULGARIA

Mrs Nadejda TODOROVA, Expert en chef au Département de la coopération juridique internationale et de l'entraide judiciaire au Ministère de la Justice Mrs Silvia DE BOER, Attaché, Legal Affairs, Embassy of the Republic of Bulgaria, The Hague

CANADA

Mr *Gar PARDY*, Director General, Consular Affairs Bureau, Justice Legal Services, (JUS) Department of Foreign Affairs, Ottawa

CHILI / CHILE

Mr Ricardo ORTIZ, Counsellor, Embassy of Chile, The Hague

CHINE / CHINA

Mr *Lixiao TIAN*, Deputy Division Director, Department of Treaty and Law, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Beijing

Mr Han YANBIN, Judge of the Supreme Court, Beijing

Mr Jin SUN, Third Secretary, Department of Treaty and Law, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Beijing Mr SUN Guoshun, First Secretary, Embassy of the People's Republic of China, The Hague Mr Ian WINGFIELD, Law Officer, Department of Justice, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

The Honourable Mr Justice *Michael J. HARTMANN*, Judge of the High Court, Hong Kong Ms *Teresa LEONG*, Judge

Ms Sofia CARREIRA BOMBA, Legal Adviser, International Law Office

Ms Wai Ying Winnie WONG, Senior expert at the Central Authority

CHYPRE / CYPRUS

Mr George A. SERGHIDES, President of the Family Court of Limassol and Paphos, Nicosia Mrs Louisa CHRISTODOULIDES-ZANNETOS, Counsel for the Republic A, Office of the Attorney General, Nicosia

Mrs *Malvo KOLETTA*, Administrative Officer A, Unit for International Legal Assistance, Ministry of Justice and Public Order, Nicosia

CROATIE / CROATIA

Mrs Marija STOJEVIC, Senior Legal Adviser, Ministry of Labour and Social Welfare

DANEMARK / DENMARK

Ms *Marie TULLIN*, Head of Section, Department of Private Law, Ministry of Justice, Copenhagen Mr *Nikolaj AARØ-HANSEN*, Head of Section, Law Technique Division, Department of Private Law, Ministry of Justice, Copenhagen

EL SALVADOR

Mr Ismael RODRIGUEZ BATRES, Executive Director, El Instituto Salvadoreño de Protección al Menor (ISPM), San Salvador

EQUATEUR / ECUADOR

Mr Jaime AGUINAGA, Minister Judge, Corte Nacional de Menores

ESPAGNE / SPAIN

Ms *Esther PÍAS GARCÍA*, Legal Adviser, Central Authority, Madrid Mrs *Cristina GONZÁLEZ BEILFUSS*, Lecturer in Private International Law, University of Barcelona

ETATS-UNIS D'AMÉRIQUE / UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Ms *Michelle BERNIER-TOTH*, Director, Office of Children's Issues, Overseas Citizens Services, Bureau of Consular Affairs, US Department of State, Washington D.C.

Ms *Kathleen WILSON*, Attorney-Adviser, Office of the Legal Advisor, US Department of State, Washington D.C.

Ms *Mary Helen CARLSON*, Attorney Advisor, Office of the Assistant Legal Advisor for Private International Law, US Department of State, Washington D.C.

Ms *Nancy HAMMER*, Director, International Division, National Center for Missing and Exploited Children, Alexandria

The Honourable *James GARBOLINO*, Judge, Superior Court of California, County of Placer, Auburn

Ms Linda SILBERMAN, Professor, New York University School of Law

FINLANDE / FINLAND

Ms *Outi KEMPPAINEN*, Legal Adviser, Ministry of Justice, Helsinki Mr *Mats WIKLUND*, Justice, Helsinki Court of Appeal, Helsinki

FRANCE

Mme *Béatrice BIONDI*, Magistrat - Chef du bureau, Bureau de l'Entraide Judiciaire en matière civile et commerciale (D3), Paris

M. *Stéphane JAVET*, Juriste, Bureau de l'Entraide Judiciaire en matière civile et commerciale (D3), Paris

HONGRIE / HUNGARY

Ms *Zsuzsa ÀGOSTON*, Principal Counsellor, Department for Family and Youth Protection, Ministry of Social and Family Affairs, Budapest

Ms *Tünde FORMAN*, Head of Subdivision, Department of International Law, Ministry of Justice, Budapest

IRLANDE / IRELAND

The Honourable Mrs Justice *Catherine McGUINNESS*, Judge of the Supreme Court, Dublin Mr *Brian INGOLDSBY*, Principal Officer, Civil Law Reform Division, Department of Justice, Equality and Law Reform, Dublin

Mr William O'DWYER, Assistant Principal Officer, Department of Justice, Equality and Law Reform, Dublin

Ms *Philomena CONNICK*, Higher Executive Officer, Department of Justice, Equality and Law Reform, Dublin

Mr Frank MARTIN, Lecturer in Law, University of Ireland, Cork

ISLANDE / ICELAND

Ms Kristrún KRISTINSDÓTTIR, Legal Expert, Civil Law Affairs, Ministry of Justice and Ecclesiastical Affairs, Reykjavik

Mr Jónas JÓHANNSSON, District Court Judge and Contact Judge for Iceland Mrs Jóhanna GUNNARSDÓTTIR, Legal Expert, Ministry of Justice and Ecclesiastical Affairs, Reykjavik

ISRAEL / ISRAEL

Mrs Joyce FRIEDMAN-MORIBER, Senior Assistant to the State Attorney, Department of International Affairs, Ministry of Justice, Jerusalem

ITALIE / ITALY

Ms *Talitha VASSALLI DI DACHENHAUSEN*, Chair Professor of International Law, University "Federico II", Naples

JAPON / JAPAN

Ms Junko HAYAKASHI, Special Advisory Staff to the Director-General of the Civil Affairs Bureau, Ministry of Justice, Tokyo Mr Kunio KOIDE, First Secretary, Embassy of Japan, The Hague Mr Taisaku IKESHIMA, Legal Adviser, Embassy of Japan, The Hague

LUXEMBOURG

M. Nico EDON, Premier avocat général au Parquet Général de Luxembourg

MALTE / MALTA

Ms Audrey VELLA, Counsel to the Republic, Attorney General's Office, Valletta Ms Carmen ZAMMIT, Director, Department of Family Welfare, Venera

MAURICE / MAURITIUS

Mrs Feroza MAUDARBOCUS-MOOLNA, Principal State Attorney, Port-Louis

MEXIQUE / MEXICO

H.E. Mr Santiago OÑATE, Ambassador of Mexico, The Hague

NORVÈGE / NORWAY

Ms Anne Lene STAIB, Higher Executive Officer, Royal Ministry of Justice and the Police, Oslo

NOUVELLE-ZÉLANDE / NEW ZEALAND

Mr Patrick D. MAHONY, Principal Family Court Judge, Wellington Ms Jan Marie DOOGUE, Judge of the Family Court of New Zealand, Auckland

OUZBÉKISTAN / UZBEKISTAN

Mr Farkhod I. HAKIMOV, Consul-General of the Republic of Uzbekistan, Amsterdam

PANAMA

Mr Pedro SITTON URETA, Legal Counsellor, Embassy of Panama, Brussels

PAYS-BAS / NETHERLANDS

Mr A.V.M. STRUYCKEN (Teun), président de la Commission d'Etat néerlandaise de droit international privé

Mrs *Dorothea VAN ITERSON*, Conseiller, Direction de la Législation, Ministry of Justice, The Hague

Mr Frans A. VAN DER REIJT, Rechter, Arrondissements-rechtbank 's-Hertogenbosch Ms Henriët LENTERS, Co-ordinator at the Central Authority Bureau, Ministry of Justice, The Hague

Ms Stefanie OOSTVOGELS, Officer at the Central Authority, Ministry of Justice, The Hague

POLOGNE / POLAND

Mr Leszek KUZIAK, Judge, Legal Adviser, Ministry of Justice Mme Katarzyna BIERNACKA, Juge, Chef de la Section du droit international, Ministère de la Justice

ROYAUME-UNI DE GRANDE-BRETAGNE ET D'IRLANDE DU NORD UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND

The Right Honourable Lord Justice *Mathew THORPE*, Judge of the Court of Appeal, Royal Courts of Justice, London

The Honourable Mr Justice *Nicholas WALL*, Judge of the Family Division of the High Court of England and Wales, London

Mr Colin PIPE, Policy Adviser International Child Abduction, Lord Chancellor's Department, Family Policy Division, London

Ms *Beverley TAYLOR*, Senior Family and Medical Lawyer, Office of the Official Solicitor, London Mr *Matthew WOOD*, Administrator, Office of the Official Solicitor, Child Abduction Unit, London Ms *Laura MULHERON*, Policy Adviser, Civil Justice and International Division, Courts Group, Scottish Executive Justice Department, Edinburgh

Mr *Marcus HOUSTON*, Civil Justice and International Division, Courts Group, Scottish Executive Justice Department, Edinburgh

Ms Louise MILLER, Policy Adviser, Scottish Executive Justice Department, Civil Justice and International Division, Edinburgh

Ms Laura McPOLIN, Head of Civil and Family Branch, Northern Ireland Courts Service, Belfast Mr Justice Ronnie WEATHERUP, High Court in Northern Ireland, Royal Courts of Justice, Belfast

ROYAUME-UNI (BERMUDES) / UNITED KINGDOM (BERMUDA)

Ms *Debra Lynn GOINS*, Crown Counsel for the Attorney-General, Central Authority for Bermuda, Hamilton

SLOVAQUIE / SLOVAKIA

Ms Alena MATEJOVA, Director, Centre for International Legal Protection of Children and Youth, Bratislava

SRI LANKA

Mrs *Dharani WIJAYATILAKE*, Secretary, Ministry of Justice, Law Reform & National Integration, Colombo

SUÈDE / SWEDEN

Mr *Bengt SJOBERG*, Director, Department for Consular Affairs and Civil Law, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Stockholm

Ms *Madelaine BERONIUS*, Desk Officer, Department for Consular Affairs and Civil Law, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Stockholm

SUISSE / SWITZERLAND

M. *David URWYLER*, Head of Service for International Child Protection, Office fédéral de la Justice, Berne

Mme *Nicolette RUSCA-CLERC*, Chef de service de la protection international des enfants, suppléante, Office fédéral de la Justice, Berne

RÉPUBLIQUE TCHÈQUE / CZECH REPUBLIC

Mr Rotislav ZALESKY, Director of the Office for International Legal Protection of Children, Brno

THAÏLANDE / THAILAND

Mr *Trakul WINITNAIYAPAK*, Deputy Director General, International Affairs Department, Office of the Attorney General, Bangkok

Mr Chakorn SUCHIVA, Minister Counsellor, Royal Thai Embassy, The Hague

TRINITÉ ET TOBAGO / TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Mr Leslie DONAWA, Legal Officer, Ministry of Social Development Ms Claire E. GITTENS, Director, National Family Services Division, Office of the Prime Minister (Social Services Delivery)

URUGUAY

Ms *Cecilia FRESNEDO* DE AGUIRRE, Universidad de la República y, Universidad Católica del Uruguay, Montevideo

OBSERVATEURS / OBSERVERS

REPRÉSENTANTS D'ORGANISATIONS INTERGOUVERNEMENTALES REPRESENTATIVES FOR INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANISATIONS

COMMISSION DES NATIONS UNIES POUR LES DROITS DE L'ENFANT / UNITED NATIONS COMMITTEE ON THE RIGHTS OF THE CHILD (UNCRC)

Ms Geeske C.A.M. RUITENBERG, PhD student, Amsterdam

PARLEMENT EUROPÉEN / EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT

Ms Mary BANOTTI, MEP, the European Parliament Mediator for Transnationally Abducted Children, European Parliament, Brussels Ms Margaret DEAN, Administrator, European Parliament, Brussels

COMMISSION EUROPÉENNE / EUROPEAN COMMISSION

Ms *Monika EKSTROM*, Administrator of the Unit "Judicial co-operation in civil matters", European Commission, Brussels

INTERNATIONAL LAW ASSOCIATION (ILA)

Mr Jun YOKOYAMA, Professor, Hitotsubashi University, Tokyo

REPRÉSENTANTS D'ORGANISATIONS NON GOUVERNEMENTALES REPRESENTATIVES FOR NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANISATIONS

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF WOMEN JUDGES (IAWJ)

The Honourable Shireen AVIS FISHER, Judge, United States of America

ASSOCIATION INTERNATIONALE DU BARREAU / INTERNATIONAL BAR ASSOCIATION (IBA)

Ms Margaret H. BENNETT, Solicitor, Chair of IBA Hague Child Abduction Task Force, London

INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR MISSING & EXPLOITED CHILDREN (ICMEC)

Ms Mary BANOTTI, MEP, the European Parliament Mediator for Transnationally Abducted Children, European Parliament, Brussels The Right Honourable Sir John STANLEY, MP; Vice-Chairman, The All-Party Parliamentary Group on Child Abduction, London

PARENTS AND ABDUCTED CHILDREN TOGETHER (PACT)

The Right Honourable Sir *John STANLEY*, MP; Vice-Chairman, The All-Party Parliamentary Group on Child Abduction, London

ASSOCIATION INTERNATIONALE DE DROIT DE LA FAMILLE / INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY OF FAMILY LAW (ISFL)

Ms Carol BRUCH, Professor Emerita and Research Professor of Law, California Mr Nigel LOWE, Professor of Law, Cardiff Law School, Cardiff

INTERNATIONAL ACADEMY OF MATRIMONIAL LAWYERS (IAML)

Mr *Charles SHAINBERG*, President IAML, Attorney-at-law, Shainberg & Viola, Philadelphia Mr *Werner MARTENS*, Rechtsanwalt, Pollzien, Martens & Graf, Munich

ASSOCIATION INTERNATIONALE DES MAGISTRATS DE LA JEUNESSE ET FAMILLE (AIMJF) / INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF JUVENILE AND FAMILY COURT MAGISTRATES

Mr *Robert KRIJGER*, Kinderrechter, Rechtbank Zutphen, Zutphen Ms *C.E. DETTMEIJER-VERMEULEN*, Family Judge at the District Court of The Hague

RÉSEAU EUROPÉEN CONTRE L'ENLÈVEMENT PARENTAL INTERNATIONAL EUROPEAN NETWORK ON PARENTAL CHILD ABDUCTION (ENPCA)

Mr Arnauld GRUSELLE, Chargé de mission, Fondation Pour l'Enfance, Paris Mme Hansu YALAZ-LAZIZI, Juriste au Collectif de Solidarité aux Mères des Enfants enlevés, Meudon

Mrs Denise CARTER, Director REUNITE, London Ms Anne-Marie HUTCHINSON, Solicitor; Chair of REUNITE, London

CENTRE EUROPÉEN POUR ENFANTS DISPARUS ET SEXUELLEMENT EXPLOITÉS EUROPEAN FEDERATION FOR MISSING AND SEXUALLY EXPLOITED CHILDREN (EFMSEC)

Mrs Liesbeth VAN HOORICK, Case Manager, Child Focus, Brussels

INSTITUT INTERAMÉRICAIN DE L'ENFANT (IIN) / INTER-AMERICAN CHILDREN'S INSTITUTE

Ms *Cecilia FRESNEDO DE AGUIRRE*, Universidad de la República y, Universidad Católica del Uruguay, Montevideo

Ms *Verónica RUIZ ABOU-NIGM*, Assistant Professor of Private international law at the Catholic University of Uruguay, Attorney at law, Graduate student at the University of Edinburgh

COMITÉ INTERNATIONAL DE CONSULTANTS JURIDIQUES / INTERNATIONAL BOARD OF JUDICIAL ADVISERS

L'Honorable Jacques CHAMBERLAND, Juge, Cour d'appel du Québec, Montréal

INCADAT

Mr Peter E. McELEAVY, Barrister; Lecturer in Law, Aberdeen University, Aberdeen

SECRÉTARIAT / SECRETARIAT

Mr Hans VAN LOON, Secretary General Mr William DUNCAN, Deputy Secretary General Mr Christophe BERNASCONI, First Secretary Mr Philippe LORTIE, First Secretary Ms Andrea SCHULZ, First Secretary Ms Jenny DEGELING, Principal Legal Officer Ms Angelika RIEGER, Legal Officer Ms Marion ELY, Legal Officer

Secrétaires Rédacteurs / Recording Secretaries

Ms Sarah ARMSTRONG, Temporary Legal Officer, Permanent Bureau, The Hague Mlle Aude FIORINI, Lecturer in Law, University of Aberdeen, School of Law, Aberdeen Mlle Caroline GOSSELAIN, Temporary Legal Officer, Permanent Bureau, The Hague Ms Marguerite WALTER, Student at New York University, School of Law, Brooklyn

Assistant Stagiaire / Assistant Intern

Mlle Valériane OREAMUNO Mlle Lidia SANDRINI

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 Terms of reference, representation and chairmanship

1. The Special Commission concerning the *Hague Convention of 25 October 1980 on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction*¹ met in the Academy Building of the Peace Palace in The Hague from 27 September to 1 October 2002, pursuant to the recommendation adopted by Commission I of the Nineteenth Diplomatic Session of the Hague Conference on Private International Law. This recommendation reads as follows:

"Commission I recommends that the Secretary-General convene a Special Commission to be held in September / October 2002 to follow-up on matters arising from the Fourth Meeting of the Special Commission to Review the Operation of the Hague Convention of 25 October 1980 on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction, which was held in March 2001. The principal item on the Agenda will be consideration, with a view to approval, of the first two sections (Central Authority practice and implementing measures) of the Guide to Good Practice. There will also be initial discussion of the Permanent Bureau's final report on Transfrontier Access/Contact, as well as a Permanent Bureau report on direct international judicial communications in the context of the 1980 Convention."

2. This Commission differed from the four-yearly reviews of the Convention in that it had a specific mandate to consider the draft Guide to Good Practice, the Permanent Bureau's final report on transfrontier access / contact including a preliminary discussion of transfrontier access / contact issues relating to some Islamic States, and a report on direct international judicial communications in the context of the Convention.

3. Of the 47 States represented, 44 were Parties to the 1980 Convention, (seven being non-Member States of the Hague Conference), and the other three were Member States of the Hague Conference not yet Parties to the Convention. In addition, three intergovernmental organisations and 12 non-governmental organisations were present as observers.

4. The Special Commission was opened by Mr Teun Struycken, Chairman of the Netherlands Standing Committee on Private International Law. He proposed Mrs Justice Catherine McGuinness (Ireland) as the chair of the meeting, who was elected unanimously by the Commission. The Permanent Bureau acted as Reporter.

2.2 Preliminary Documents and Agenda

5. Eleven Preliminary Documents were prepared for the Commission, seven of which had been previously circulated to participants.

6. Preliminary Document No 1, Consultation Paper on Transfrontier Access / Contact drawn up by William Duncan, Deputy Secretary General was sent out to National Organs in January 2002.

¹ The Hague Convention of 25 October 1980 on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction [hereinafter the "Convention" or the "1980 Hague Convention"] (available at: http://www.hcch.net/e/conventions/menu28e.html). All "Articles" referred to are those of the 1980 Convention.

7. Preliminary Document No 2, Questionnaire concerning practical mechanisms for facilitating direct international judicial communications in the context of the *Hague Convention of 25 October 1980 on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction*, drawn up by William Duncan, Deputy Secretary General was sent out to National Organs in January 2002.

8. Preliminary Document No 3, Guide to Good Practice under the *Hague Convention of* 25 October 1980 on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction, Part I - Central Authority Practice, drawn up by the Permanent Bureau was made available on the Internet in June 2002.

9. Preliminary Document No 4, Guide to Good Practice under the *Hague Convention of* 25 October 1980 on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction, Part II - Implementing Measures, drawn up by the Permanent Bureau was made available on the Internet in July 2002.

10. Preliminary Document No 5, Transfrontier Access / Contact and the *Hague Convention* of 25 October 1980 on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction, Final Report, drawn up by William Duncan, Deputy Secretary General was made available on the Internet in July 2002.

11. Preliminary Document No 6, Practical Mechanisms for Facilitating Direct International Judicial Communications in the context of the *Hague Convention of 25 October 1980 on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction*, Preliminary Report, drawn up by Philippe Lortie, First Secretary was made available on the Internet in August 2002.

12. Preliminary Document No 7, Bilateral Conventions and Islamic States, drawn up by the Permanent Bureau was made available on the Internet in August 2002.

13. Preliminary Document No 8, Responses received to the Consultation Paper on Transfrontier Access / Contact, and Preliminary Document No 9, Responses received to the Questionnaire concerning practical mechanisms for facilitating direct international judicial communications in the context of the *Hague Convention of 25 October 1980 on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction*, were made available on two disks distributed to the head of each delegation. Several copies of the complete set of responses, as well as the documents annexed, were made available for consultation to the participants during the Special Commission.

14. Preliminary Document No 10, Information Document drawn up by the Permanent Bureau and Preliminary Document No 11, Responses received to the Guide to Good Practice under the *Hague Convention of 25 October 1980 on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction*, Part I - Central Authority Practice, drawn up by the Permanent Bureau were made available to participants at the meeting.

15. The Agenda adopted by the Special Commission reflected its mandate. The discussions concerned successively the Guide to Good Practice, Part I - Central Authority Practice, the Guide to Good Practice, Part II - Implementing Measures, Transfrontier Access / Contact including cases involving Islamic States and Judicial Communications. There was also a presentation by WorldReach Software concerning the International Child Abduction Statistical Database (INCASTAT). The Commission ended with a review and approval of the first two chapters of the Guide to Good Practice, a consideration of further elements to be included in the Guide, and approval of the conclusions set out in Working Document No 1. Finally, the Commission considered the Permanent Bureau's possible future programme of work concerning the 1980 Convention and the financial implications of this work.

3. CURRENT STATUS OF THE CONVENTION

16. The 1980 Hague Convention entered into force on 1 December 1983, and now has seventy-three States Parties.² The expanding geographical scope of the States Parties includes ratifying and acceding States from all continents.³ Indeed the increasing number of Contracting States to the Convention seems likely to continue at a steady pace - more than twenty-five States have become Party in the past five years alone.

 $^{^2}$ Updated as of 15 March 2003.

³ States that were Member States of the Hague Conference at the time the Convention was adopted (on 25 October 1980) may ratify the Convention; States that cannot sign and ratify may only accede. *See* Articles 37 and 38(1) respectively.

4. GUIDE TO GOOD PRACTICE: PART I: CENTRAL AUTHORITY PRACTICE

4.1 Background to developing the Guide to Good Practice

17. The development of the Guide to Good Practice Part I: Central Authority Practice and Part II: Implementing Measures, (Preliminary Document No 3 and Preliminary Document No 4 respectively) followed from Recommendation 1.16 of the March 2001 Special Commission which gave the following mandate:

"Contracting States to the Convention should co-operate with each other and with the Permanent Bureau to develop a Guide to Good Practice which expands on Article 7 of the Convention. This guide would be a practical, "how-to" guide, to help implement the Convention. It would concentrate on operational issues and be targeted particularly at new Contracting States. It would not be binding nor infringe upon the independence of the judiciary. The methodology should be left to the Permanent Bureau".

18. Mr Duncan explained the partnership process between the Permanent Bureau and the Contracting States, especially the Central Authorities which facilitated the production of Parts I and II of the Guide. There had been direct and individual consultation with Central Authorities and in April 2002 a meeting of 12 Central Authorities had been convened to comment on early drafts. Similarly, drafts had been widely circulated and comments received. He expressed appreciation to the Australian Government who had seconded Ms Jennifer Degeling, the head of the Australian Central Authority, to work for one year with the Permanent Bureau, primarily to work on Part I of the Guide.

Ms Degeling described the relevant considerations in preparing Part I on Central 19. Authority practices. While the starting point had to be the Conclusions and Recommendations of the 2001 Special Commission, there were other important considerations in preparing the Guide. First, it was important to recognise the requirements or limitations of different legal systems, knowing that some suggested practices might be acceptable in certain jurisdictions but not in others, and Central Authorities must therefore select the guidelines that are appropriate for their jurisdiction. Second, it was necessary to take into account the needs and resources of developed and developing Central Authorities, while recognising that there are some guidelines that are so fundamentally important that even under-resourced or developing Central Authorities must try to achieve them as soon as the Convention enters into force, such as acknowledging and responding to requests for return. Third, it was necessary to ensure that the most important goals are achievable by small or developing Central Authorities, while recognising that some other suggestions for good practice will not be achievable by new or developing Central Authorities. Fourth, there should be emphasis on the gradual or incremental approach to improvement, where small improvements achievable over a period of time will have long-term benefits for all States.

20. The main objective in preparing a guide to good practice is to make it of practical use. This means that the most important principles should have universal application, the Guide should have a logical structure, it should be clearly expressed, the information should be accessible and easy to follow, and it should cover all aspects of Central Authority practice. The Guide should be relevant to small, medium or large Central Authorities, as well as those which are new and those which are well established.

4.2 Fundamental principles for approving and using the Guide

21. The Chair reminded delegates that the Guide is not an international treaty; it has no binding authority but is intended to show what Central Authorities should aspire to. The Chair emphasised that it was important not to cut down the Guide if not all Authorities were ably resourced to manage all the guidelines immediately. In effect, Central Authorities were encouraged to adopt "progressive implementation" of the Guide in the same spirit in which "progressive implementation" of the Convention itself was adopted as a Key Operating Principle.

22. A suggestion was made that the introduction to the Guide should contain the observations made by the Chair, namely a clear statement that the Guide is not legally binding and that not all measures will perhaps be achievable by all Central Authorities. Working Document No 2, *Suggested amendments to the Guide to Good Practice Part I - Central Authority Practice*, proposed a form of words to this effect that was accepted by the meeting in the final session.

23. Several experts expressed their appreciation of the excellence of the Guide and commented on the importance of such a Guide not only for new Contracting States but also for well-established Central Authorities. Another representative expressed a plea that the Guide must strengthen the operation of the Convention and therefore must not reduce good practice to the lowest common denominator.

24. An expert endorsed the view put forward in Preliminary Document No 11, *Comments Received by the Permanent Bureau on the Guide to Good Practice Part I - Central Authority Practice*, which highlighted that the Guide should not be too detailed or too long, so as not to detract from its utility. Delegates were asked to bear this in mind when making suggestions for revisions or additions to the text.

25. The Appendices to the Guide (Preliminary Document No 3: Appendices) contain the Conclusions and Recommendations of previous Special Commissions, a summary of the obligations of Central Authorities under the Convention, some sample forms and letters considered to be examples of good practice, a list of measures taken by authorities to locate a child or to assist a safe return, the annual statistics reporting forms, and a list of publications and internet sites dealing with prevention issues. Central Authorities are invited to submit sample "good practice" documents for inclusion in the Guide's Appendices at any time. The Appendices may be revised by the Permanent Bureau in order to ensure that its contents remain current and relevant.

4.3 Key Operating Principles

26. During the development of the Guide, the Permanent Bureau was drawn to the concept of using a number of overarching principles that would guide relevant authorities, agencies or actors in all aspects of the implementation and operation of the Convention. It was hoped that the principles might also guide Contracting States in planning or improving their implementing measures.

27. The Key Operating Principles formulated in the Guide are considered by the Permanent Bureau to be fundamental to the effective operation of the Convention. These Key Operating Principles should apply not only to Central Authorities but also to other bodies or persons involved in the Convention process. They are:

- *Met Adequate resources and powers for Central Authorities* are matters that Contracting States need to address in their Implementing Measures;
- *Good co-operation* is fundamental to the success of the Convention and is enhanced by good communication;

- *Cood communication* between Central Authorities themselves, and between Central Authorities and other agencies, is essential for the effective operation of the Convention;
- Consistency in interpretation of Convention obligations, and use of the model form, improves understanding and co-operation;
- Expeditious procedures should be used at all stages of the Convention process by Central Authorities and others;
- set Transparency of process builds understanding and confidence in the Convention process;
- Progressive implementation is the idea of continual improvement in all aspects of implementation of the Convention, not just for Central Authorities but for Contracting States as well.

28. Several experts commented on the usefulness of a set of operational principles to guide Central Authorities and others in implementing the Convention. It was generally understood that in applying these principles, the Central Authorities should do what they can to achieve a reasonable standard of efficiency according to their resources and within their administrative and legal systems. Additionally, the Guide suggests that well resourced Central Authorities could provide professional or material assistance to others, *e.g.* on the basis of a twinning arrangement or an exchange of personnel.

29. However, one expert queried the emphasis on resources and powers and its inclusion as a principle. She felt that the emphasis on resources could perhaps be counter-productive given that not all Central Authorities benefit from having access to certain methods of communication such as email. She suggested that it may be more beneficial to alter the order in the principles in the Guide.

30. The ensuing debate showed there was general agreement that the importance of resources and powers for the Central Authority, although not strictly speaking "a principle" but without which nothing could be achieved, meant that this Key Operating Principle remained as being fundamental to the success of the Convention. The proposal in Working Document No 2 that the order should be: resources and powers, co-operation, communication, consistency, expeditious procedures, transparency, progressive implementation, was accepted during the final session.

31. Several experts noted that speed is an essential element, but stressed that it is important to ensure that the pursuit of speed does not detract from the rights of all parties being respected and the requirements of due process, which must not be neglected. The proposal in Working Document No 2 that the words "expeditious procedures" be used instead of "speed" where appropriate throughout the Guide, was adopted.

32. The question was raised of other factors (such as difficulties in locating the child) which could cause delay but which may be beyond the control of the Central Authority. Some of these could be addressed as education and training issues, while others may be dealt with in implementing measures. An example was given by an expert from Cyprus who indicated that the Supreme Court of Cyprus had introduced changes on 2 May 2002 modifying its procedural rules to shorten the time allowed to file certain proceedings to 7 days and for appeal to 14 days (a reduction by half in the first case and by two-thirds in the second case).

33. Poor communication can be a source of delay in procedure and therefore it is important that Central Authorities keep themselves informed of all developments, especially during the legal proceedings. An expert noted that confidentiality of information should be respected. However, the reality is that confidentiality cannot be guaranteed outside one's own jurisdiction, and a new paragraph 1.3 was inserted in the Guide to indicate that the applicant

should be aware that confidentiality of personal information cannot always be guaranteed in the requested country's administrative and legal procedures, particularly when email communications are being used.

34. An expert underlined the importance of section 1.3.4 according to which the Central Authorities should provide information on their practice and the procedure to each Contracting State. The proposal was adopted from Working Document No 2 that it could be useful to provide a general information note to accompany an acknowledgement of each application in order to enable the requesting Central Authority to understand the procedure in the requested State and to adapt their expectations accordingly (*see* section 4.4).

4.4 Establishing and consolidating the Central Authority

35. It is widely accepted that co-operation between Central Authorities is the lynchpin in the success of the Convention. However, there have been situations where countries have joined the Convention and either have not designated a Central Authority, or if designated, the Central Authority has been given no powers or resources to carry out its functions, often because essential implementing legislation has not been passed.

36. For this reason, the Guide gives emphasis to why and when the Central Authority should be established and how it may be consolidated. In addition to asking "why and when", Chapter 2 also asks "where, who, and what" are required as essential elements in establishing and consolidating a Central Authority. While the Guide contains a range of suggested practices for small, medium and large Central Authorities, it should be recognised that what is possible or appropriate for one is not always possible or appropriate for another.

37. Several experts noted the importance of the designation of a "central" Central Authority in Federal States. One view was that these "central" Central Authorities should have a co-ordinating role to ensure the achievement of consistent and effective communication. Other experts stated that the Guide to Good Practice could not obligate Central Authorities to have this co-ordinating role as their powers might be governed by constitutional or legislative provisions. Article 6 of the Convention is very clear on this point, and gives States the discretion to organise their Central Authorities and to determine their role. The Guide should therefore limit itself to encouraging co-operation and communication without having to go beyond this.

38. An observer emphasised the necessity of adequate training for relevant authorities, notably the police, in order to achieve effective operation of the Convention. At the moment there is an absence of training for the police in some jurisdictions, consequently they do not necessarily understand their role in Convention matters. The Chair stated that the relationship between these two authorities is complicated and depends on domestic law, but too often such relationships only operate on a personal and voluntary level. This subject was debated at greater length during the discussion on education and training in Chapter 6.

39. Several experts indicated that it was helpful to have a lawyer within the Central Authority, or at least someone with legal training and good knowledge of the Convention and the relevant domestic procedures and implementing measures. Again, this is a question which may be governed by internal law in individual States and it is therefore impossible for the Guide to interfere on this issue. In the absence of a lawyer in the Central Authority, personnel could get advice or guidance on legal matters from other lawyers in their agency, on an *ad hoc* basis. A proposal to this effect in Working Document No 2 to revise paragraph 2.4.2 was accepted during the final session.

40. An expert added that Central Authorities have a role to play in disseminating information to other authorities and social workers. Several observers highlighted the importance of providing information to left-behind parents. They recognised that specialist non-Governmental organisations were in a position to usefully provide information to parents and that they could collaborate with Central Authorities. Paragraph 2.4.3 was revised to encourage Central Authorities to try if possible to form links with non-governmental organisations and national or regional law associations.

4.5 Central Authority procedures for abduction applications

41. The Guide attempts to describe the operational procedures of Requesting and Requested Central Authorities from beginning to end of a typical application for return of a child, including post return issues. Although processes and procedures will vary in different countries, the Guide sets out recommendations for good practice that can be adapted for most situations.

4.5.1 Role of the Requesting Central Authority (outgoing abduction applications)

4.5.1.1 Hand written applications

42. Section 3.2 (check that the application is complete and in an acceptable form for the requested country) was the subject of a short debate. It was said that the need for a signature on an application, which has been retyped by the Central Authority even when the handwritten application has been previously signed, could perhaps waste time in their jurisdictions. However in certain jurisdictions there are strict rules concerning the form of documentation and these cannot be ignored. One solution was to attach a copy of the original handwritten form with the signature to the typed form in order to satisfy these requirements.

4.5.1.2 Article 15 declarations

43. Several experts indicated that Article 15 of the Convention is interpreted very restrictively in their jurisdictions because Article 15 declarations are only accepted if they come from the courts (Israel, China – Hong Kong Special Administrative Region). The Deputy Secretary General pointed out that the Convention leaves open the question of which authorities can make an Article 15 declaration and that practice showed that the position in different States varied on this point.

4.5.1.3 Safe return of the child

44. It was suggested that section 3.20 (ensuring agreed arrangements are in place when the child returns) include a reference to the welfare of a child after its return, as the automatic local involvement of social services was desirable to promote the welfare of a child which has suffered the trauma of abduction. An expert from South Africa noted that the Central Authority and the custodial body in South Africa were the same, so that there was immediate involvement of the Office of Family Advocate, social services, and lawyers in all return proceedings. However, such close connection was unusual and it is really a question of where the Central Authority is located.

45. An expert from France observed that the French Central Authority had recently appointed a social worker specialising in the protection of children to work at the Central Authority. She explained that this person intervened directly with social welfare services and other departments following the cases of endangered children. She reported that the results of this new system had been quite positive and suggested that other States might wish to assemble similar multidisciplinary teams.

46. The Deputy Secretary General emphasised the importance of the Conclusions and Recommendations made by the Fourth Special Commission Meeting of March 2001 with regard to the protection of children, in particular Recommendation 1.13. He observed that this same issue had been discussed during the Special Commission meeting of 1997, and that the recommendations of the Special Commission of 2001 represented an important compromise. He stated that recommendations such as this were the point of departure for the Guide to Good Practice and should not be revisited.

4.5.1.4 Translation of documents

47. There was general agreement on the necessity and importance of possessing an accurate translation of all documents relating to requests, including summaries of judicial decisions. Often these decisions were not translated. A poorly translated, incomprehensible request leads to delays in the processing of applications and in legal proceedings.

48. The Chair indicated that the translation issue was fundamental, and that it depended on the resources available to the State. Not all Central Authorities had access to specific services connected to their offices. A representative also observed that it was sometimes difficult to find qualified translators in the requesting State to translate the necessary documents into the language of the requested State. However, the requesting Central Authority should provide, at the very least, a translation into one of the official languages of the Hague Conference (English and French). This was the responsibility of the applicant.

49. An expert from Israel noted that in her country the legal aid provided to parents covered the translation of documents essential to the request. If the parents were not eligible for legal aid, the request would be translated by the Central Authority.

4.5.1.5 Providing additional information promptly

50. In relation to section 3.11, applications prepared by the parent himself or herself without professional assistance were often of poor quality, incomplete and ill-supported. Additional information then had to be obtained from the requesting State, leading to delays in the processing of the application.

51. Several experts observed that their Central Authorities assisted applicants in completing the application forms. This assistance varied among the States. In some States, applicants who had requested assistance received it directly from the district court, and it was the judge who assisted them in the procedures. In others, it was the Central Authority itself that assisted the applicant. The parent could also request assistance from an attorney.

52. It was noted that in some countries such as Ireland and the United Kingdom, legal aid for the applicant was direct and automatic. However, it was rare for the abducting parent to receive such aid.

4.5.2 Role of the Requested Central Authority (incoming abduction applications)

4.5.2.1 Locating the child

53. In relation to section 4.10, an expert observed that in some cases where the authority in charge of the protection of the child deemed it necessary, the requested Central Authority should not reveal the geographical location of the child to the applicant. Only the attorney should be informed of the child's residence. However, another view was that if the requested Central Authority did not transmit information on the child's location, this would be considered

obstruction. It was suggested by one observer that in very complicated cases, the only way to locate the child was for the parent to travel to the requested State in order to deal with the local authorities. In difficult cases Central Authorities might assist by providing information concerning other locating resources available in their country when the child could not be located through the police or specialised organisations.

54. The Chair and several experts noted that the process of locating the child through the police and other judicial authorities was more difficult when the abduction of the child was not criminalised by the State. The Chair noted that in some countries, courts could require family members to provide information concerning the presence of the child in the State.

55. Several experts emphasised the existence of effective collaboration among national police, Interpol, and judicial authorities in efforts to locate children. They insisted on the importance of complete information and the necessity of properly informing the police and Interpol. In Canada, Israel and Switzerland, liaison officers to the police have been designated to assure communication between the police and the Central Authority.

4.5.2.2 Delays caused by legalisation and other formalities

56. There was discussion of the problem of delay caused by certain countries' requirements for legalisation of documents. Article 23 expressly prohibits legalisation or similar formality in the context of the Convention. The Convention does not permit a reservation on this matter. The importance of the matter was highlighted by the addition of a new paragraph 1.2.1 in the Guide.

57. Advice was sought on how to deal with this problem. The Deputy Secretary General said the Permanent Bureau could serve as a mediator when there were bureaucratic or communication difficulties of this nature. Another expert noted that his State had recourse to political and diplomatic contacts in order to assist Central Authorities, but of course these measures were for the governments concerned to decide, and that they could not be directed by the Convention. Section 1.2.4 lists a number of solutions to such obstacles to the effective operation of the Convention.

4.5.2.3 Establishing timeframes for dealing with applications

58. There was clarification of the terms "internal" and "external" timeframes in section 4.1, referring to two different situations. External time frames were those imposed from outside the Central Authority and over which the Central Authority had no control, *e.g.* legislation determining time periods in which documents must be filed in court. Internal time frames were set by the Central Authorities themselves or their managers, *e.g.* efficiency standards to set the time limit between the receipt of a request and sending an acknowledgement.

4.5.2.4 Refusal to accept an application

59. A Central Authority's refusal to accept an application is a sensitive matter and a source of frustration for many requesting authorities. It was clear from the discussion that Central Authorities should exercise caution in assessing whether applications met the requirements of the Convention (see section 4.5) and exercising their rights under Article 27 to reject any applications that manifestly do not meet the requirements.

60. It was said that the lack of uniformity in jurisprudence across jurisdictions was a reason that doubtful applications should be sent, and that Central Authorities should allow

courts to reject any applications in which it was unclear if threshold requirements were met. It was the responsibility of the requested Central Authority to provide a clear explanation for the rejection, as well as information on other options available, including how applicants could apply directly to courts in accordance with Article 29 of the Convention.

61. The Guide should not encourage applicants to insist that Central Authorities forward applications that clearly did not meet the threshold requirements.

62. Some experts had suggested that the Guide include advice for rejected applicants. Such advice could be provided to the applicant by the requesting authority if all Central Authorities made this information about their own procedures widely available.

4.5.2.5 Ensuring that legal proceedings are commenced

63. There was discussion of a possible conflict of interest when Central Authorities initiate legal proceedings on behalf of applicants. Whether or not a Central Authority initiated proceedings depended on the country's laws and procedures, and it was not possible for the Hague Conference to express a preference. Countries allowing the Central Authority to initiate proceedings should confer about ways to avoid the appearance of a conflict of interest. It was agreed that section 4.16 should include a statement that representation of a parent directly by a Central Authority may cause problems if the other parent later becomes an applicant.

4.5.2.6 Minimising requirements for applicants to attend court hearings

64. An expert expressed the opinion that allowing a Convention hearing to go forward in the absence of one parent was contrary to Articles 6 and 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights. In the ensuing discussion, it was noted that Convention hearings do not determine issues of custody and that Articles 6 and 8 did not therefore appear to apply in these situations. It was said that the absence of one parent was not crucial since the burden of proof was on the abducting parent. Furthermore it was possible for an absent parent to participate via telephone or other means of telecommunication.

4.5.2.7 Appeals

65. The question of whether appeals should be funded by legal aid was discussed. It was noted that the legal aid systems in each country differ considerably, and it was agreed that it was not possible to make directions regarding legal aid, but that it was desirable to draw attention to the necessity of avoiding delays in appeals caused by the need to apply for legal aid.

4.6 Access applications

66. The substance of the access procedures in Chapter 5 were not discussed during the Special Commission, although the question was raised whether the chapter should remain in the Guide in light of the fact that the Final Report on Transfrontier Access / Contact drawn up by William Duncan, Deputy Secretary General, was to be debated.

67. In the final session on Part I of the Guide, it was agreed that some practical guidance for Central Authorities on dealing with access applications was desirable, pending the future

production of a section of the Guide to Good Practice dedicated to access / contact matters. Hence, the Special Commission concluded that:

"2(b) Chapter 5 of Preliminary Document No 3 should be retained subject to agreed modifications.

2(c) Work should continue on a separate chapter of the Guide to Good Practice relating to transfrontier access / contact in the context of the 1980 Convention with the following objectives:

- to promote consistent and best practices in relation to those matters which it is agreed fall within the competence and obligations of States Parties under the Convention,

- to provide examples of practice even in relation to matters which fall within the disputed areas of interpretation."

4.7 Education and training

68. There was a broad discussion on education and training issues in section 6.2, and many helpful suggestions of current practice which were made during the discussion were later incorporated into the text of the Guide. There was general agreement that Central Authorities are in a unique position to take an active role in the education and training process, and to identify any weaknesses in the securing the delivery of the objects of the Convention.

69. Many experts stated that training and education could be undertaken on a step-bystep basis and gave examples. An expert from Switzerland said that her Central Authority is active in informing other government departments about the Convention, the responsibilities of the government generally and the role of the Central Authority in particular; it also organises seminars with relevant professionals; it encourages university students to use its resources to do research on the Convention, and is active in fostering good relations with the media and the press. An expert from Hungary said that her Central Authority has created a network of specialist abduction lawyers who will assist and advise parents in country areas about the conduct of Hague access cases.

70. Another helpful suggestion that was added to the Guide was for regular regional meetings between countries that share many abduction cases. Such meetings may allow the countries concerned to discuss issues such as patterns of abduction, prevention strategies and immigration matters. In addition, meetings between a Central Authority and its national law and policy makers may allow opportunities to discuss the effective working of the national implementing legislation and the need for possible amendments.

71. The importance of training for judges and lawyers was recognised. In this regard it was noted that concentration of jurisdiction in a specialist court or courts is beneficial. An expert from France referred to a legislative amendment of 4 March 2002, which had reduced the number of first instance courts having jurisdiction in Convention cases from 180 to 33. Furthermore, appeal is to a specialist chamber within the Court of Appeal. Some examples of training for lawyers included lectures and seminars, information letters to Bar Associations from Central Authorities, and encouraging a network of specialist lawyers.

72. On the other hand, it was recognised that not all Central Authorities are authorised to recommend names of specialist lawyers and that it can be a sensitive issue in some States. However, an observer from the European Network on Parental Child Abduction drew delegates'

attention to a comprehensive database maintained by Reunite International Child Abduction Centre, of lawyers from around the world who are specialists in international child abduction cases. Access to this database was offered to interested persons.

4.7.1 Working with police

73. The importance of this topic was evident from the number of times it was raised in different contexts during the debates. It was recognised that in most jurisdictions, the police play a critical role in ensuring that the Convention operates effectively and international obligations are fulfilled. It was also recognised that the Central Authority needs to nurture and maintain a good relationship with the police (and other agencies), especially if there is a lack of enthusiasm for or knowledge about abduction cases.

74. In government agencies, changes of personnel can occur regularly. The re-assignment to other duties of experienced police officers can mean that the Central Authority should be alert to maintaining the relationship with the new officers and keeping them informed of Convention matters. The police may need special training in situations such as taking a child into protective care or if there is a risk of danger to a child or parent when a child is taken into care.

75. A number of examples were given of good co-operation and communication between the Central Authority and the police. Switzerland uses an *aide-mémoire* or memorandum of understanding to reinforce its education and training links with police and child protection agencies. The England and Wales and Scottish Central Authorities have developed guidelines with their local police force to provide assistance in abduction cases. In Belgium, a Ministerial Directive establishes and clarifies the relationship between the police and the Central Authority. (*See also,* Locating the Child, *supra*).

4.8 Issues surrounding safe return of children and parents

76. Some issues surrounding safe returns are beyond the scope of Central Authorities' powers and responsibilities. However it is important that Central Authorities are aware of these issues and their impact on the prompt return of children. The meeting emphasised the importance of recognising that the protection of the child may also sometimes require steps to be taken to protect an accompanying parent. The meeting also recognised that co-operation between both the requested and requesting Central Authorities is needed to achieve the safe return of the child.

77. Criminal proceedings against the abductor was one such issue. Several experts expressed their concerns about the use of criminal proceedings, as the institution of such proceedings could lead to a judicial refusal to return the child in circumstances where the parent would be unable to accompany the child on return. It was said that Central Authorities should do everything in their power to ensure that such proceedings are only used as a measure of last resort.

78. The provision of legal aid and advice to the returning parent was another relevant issue, and some experts recognised its importance. However, it was noted that this issue is not always within the capacity of the Central Authority to influence and the Guide should reflect this.

4.9 **Prevention and enforcement: proposal for two new sections**

79. Before the close of the discussion on Chapter 6, an observer recommended that two new sections be added to this Chapter, one on the subject of prevention and another on the

issue of enforcement. With regard to the issue of enforcement the observer stated that he had found Appendix 2 to Preliminary Document No 3 very helpful as a starting point, as it outlined all the obligations on Central Authorities.

80. This suggestion was agreed to in the final session, and delegates accepted the proposal of Mr Duncan that a draft text for the two new sections should be circulated to all delegates and relevant bodies for comment. The new sections on prevention and enforcement would then be included in the final version.

81. A longer-term project of work on these issues was also agreed to:

"1(b) Preventive measures: The Permanent Bureau should continue to gather information concerning the measures adopted in different Contracting States to prevent abductions from taking place. The experience of non-governmental organisations in this field should be taken into account. The Permanent Bureau should prepare a report on the subject with a view to the possible development of a guide to good practice.

1(c) Enforcement: The Permanent Bureau should continue to gather information on the practice of the enforcement of return orders in different Contracting States. The Permanent Bureau should prepare a report on the subject with a view to the possible development of a guide to good practice."

5. GUIDE TO GOOD PRACTICE: PART II: IMPLEMENTING MEASURES

82. Mr Duncan introduced Part II of the Guide to Good Practice and explained that the Guide had been built upon recognised good practices under the Convention and provided a framework for implementing the Convention. It is directed principally but not exclusively towards new Contracting States. Its purpose is to assist these States to adopt effective measures to implement the Convention and to comply with their Convention obligations.

83. The Guide is intended to cover matters that should be considered by a country interested in joining the Convention as well as suggestions for existing parties as to how to further improve the smooth and efficient implementation of the Convention within their jurisdictions. The Conclusions and Recommendations from the previous Special Commissions and in particular the Fourth Special Commission provide a core for the Guide. Where appropriate, examples from national implementing legislation have been used to support those recommendations as well as to draw attention to arrangements and procedures that have been found to be of practical use in operating the 1980 Convention successfully in different jurisdictions.

84. Ms Ely explained that the practices identified and included in the Guide are not legally binding upon signatory countries, but rather may serve as guidance to countries in implementing the Convention. The drafting of Part II of the Guide, Implementing Measures, utilised a three-stage process: comparative research, consultation with experts and consideration by the Special Commission.

5.1 Definitions

85. The term "implementing measures" used within the Guide refers to the range of legislative, judicial and administrative measures or procedures necessary to establish the essential legal and administrative framework to fully implement the Convention. "Implementing legislation" refers to the range of instruments having the force of law. The term is intended to cover a variety of instruments found in civil law and common law systems, such as acts of parliament, statutes, civil or criminal codes, and all delegated legislation such as rules, regulations and rules of court.

5.2 Key Operating Principles

86. The chapter on Key Operating Principles, which parallels Part I of the Guide on Central Authority Practices, sets out seven principles that were used as a framework throughout the Guide. These principles, viewed as fundamental to the effective operation of the Convention, include the resources and powers allocated to the relevant actors, the speed of the Convention process, communication, co-operation, consistency, progressive implementation and transparency of process.

5.3 The path to signature and ratification or accession

87. It was explained that Chapter 2 is particularly directed towards future Contracting States. The Chapter provides a brief description of the terminology used in Hague Conventions and stresses that regardless of the process by which a State becomes a Party to the Convention, the obligations for that State under the Convention do not differ. The Chapter then outlines steps to take before or shortly after signature and ratification or accession to the Convention, highlighting issues to consider and to consult upon during each stage of the process of becoming Party.

88. Several experts noted the value of the Good Practice Guide for States contemplating acceding to the Convention. There was general consensus as to the importance of having designated a Central Authority by the time of ratification or accession.

89. Discussion ensued as to the need to facilitate the acceptance of accessions and, to this end, the role of the standard Questionnaire for newly acceding States in facilitating provision of information. It was noted that while the Permanent Bureau sends the Questionnaire to all newly acceding States, the Permanent Bureau had not received any completed Questionnaires to-date. Several experts stated that they had received replies to the Questionnaire on a bilateral basis from newly acceding States, and had used the opportunity to exchange relevant information concerning their State.

90. There was general agreement that reference to the Questionnaire, particularly in Chapter 10 of Part II (Facilitating Acceptance of Accessions), would indicate that existing Contracting States, or where appropriate their Central Authorities, sometimes transmit the Questionnaire directly to newly acceding States. Where this occurs it would be helpful if the request were accompanied, as part of an exchange, by information concerning the operation of the Convention in the requesting State.

5.4 Methods of implementation

91. Chapter 3 summarises several methods of implementation used by States and highlights the implications of the different approaches. During the discussion it was emphasised that further domestic measures might be needed following implementation, regardless of the method used by States. These measures may take the form of ensuring that those who are affected by or who have to apply the Convention are aware of their obligations and responsibilities, publicising the entry into force or enacting specific provisions.

92. Several experts noted that implementation should be seen as a continuing process for all Contracting States. A debate ensued concerning the differences in implementation by monist and dualist States. It was recognised that even in monist States, some legislation was often needed either as an aid to interpretation or to establish necessary authorities. The discussion focussed particularly on the transformation method of implementation. Some experts explained the difficulties that they had encountered in their States as a result of the transformation method. They highlighted the potential problems of interpretation where the text of the implementing measures did not accurately mirror the text of the Convention, including the consequent difficulties of using the Pérez-Vera Explanatory Report in evidence. To this end, there was general agreement that newly acceding States should bear in mind the difficulties experienced by Contracting States implementing the Convention through the transformation method, and it was recommended that newly acceding States consider adding the Convention as a schedule to a domestic legislative act. As a result, it was suggested that the drafting committee strengthen the language of section 3.3.2 to highlight the difficulties inherent in the transformation method of implementation and to recognise the international obligations of States within this context.

5.5 Central Authorities

93. The information on Central Authorities complements Part I of the Guide and should be read in conjunction to ensure that Central Authorities are given sufficient powers and resources in the implementing measures to carry out their obligations. The Chapter indicates that a Central Authority should be designated at the time of ratification or accession. Examples from national implementing measures indicate where Central Authorities have been

designated, as well as various powers and functions that have been set out in national legislation. It is not intended to be a comprehensive listing, but rather to provide examples that have been useful in different jurisdictions.

94. A brief discussion ensued on section 4.2.2.4 and the power of a Central Authority to accept an application.

5.6 Organisation of the Courts

95. The Chapter addressing organisation of the courts was primarily structured around the Conclusions and Recommendations from the Fourth Special Commission as well as Conclusions from a number of international judicial seminars. There was general agreement as to the considerable advantages to be gained by concentrating jurisdiction to hear Hague return cases in a limited number of courts. The developments occurring in this direction were noted, in particular the recent developments in Germany, France and Hungary. It was recognised that in systems where concentration is not possible, judicial training can be an effective alternative.

5.7 Legal procedural matters

96. Examples from national implementing measures in Chapter 6 highlight provisions to ensure the prompt resolution of return applications, provisions that ensure relevant actors are given sufficient powers in respect of pre-trial procedures and provisional measures, and ways that some States have addressed the issues of expedited procedures, case management, rules of evidence, appeals and enforcement.

97. Interest was expressed in the previous discussion concerning rules of evidence, particularly on the varying views concerning the personal appearance of the applicant (section 6.5.3). Additional comments were invited on constitutional and due process considerations. To this end, the ways in which technology could balance those considerations were noted.

98. Several experts expressed the importance of parental appearance at Convention hearings in view of the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. Other experts expressed concern that a requirement for the applicant's personal appearance at the proceedings may, in some cases, have the effect of rendering the Convention remedy unavailable.

99. One expert offered examples of how a Central Authority could expedite cases through pre-trial management methods. Those methods included notifying the principal judge of all applications made, so as to ensure individual case management by a judge at all stages of the application process. Other experts noted that appellate courts in many States automatically place Convention appeals on a fast track.

100. Discussion revealed the varying opinions in respect of hearing a child's views in return hearings. While some experts indicated that section 6.5.2 should include a statement affirming that a child of sufficient age and maturity must be heard directly by the judge, other experts expressed reservations about the desirability of such a requirement. In this regard, it was noted that Part II of the Guide was not intended to address Article 13(2) and hearing the views of the child.

101. The work of the European Commission regarding parental responsibility was noted in the context of refining, on a regional level, the progress made by the Hague Conventions of 1980 and 1996. Discussion ensued as to the implications of the proposed European regulation

on the functioning of Hague Conventions and the importance of avoiding conflict between regional and global instruments. To this end, the continued co-operation between the Permanent Bureau and the European Commission was highlighted.

5.8 Legal aid and assistance

102. By making a reservation under Article 26(3) of the Convention, a Contracting State may declare that it is not bound to assume any costs resulting from the participation of legal counsel or from court proceedings, except insofar as those costs may be covered by its system of legal aid and advice. In States which have not made a reservation to Article 26(3), implementing measures should ensure the availability of appropriate legal advice.

103. The Chapter on legal aid and assistance highlights ways in which States that have made a reservation to Article 26(3) may, in practice, assist applicants. There was a brief discussion on ways in which States could provide increased legal assistance to applicants. One expert noted that the number of *pro bono* attorneys involved in Convention cases could be increased by providing information on the Convention to law firms and by setting up clinical law school programmes. Agreement was expressed that such alternative means of assistance would be useful. Attention was also drawn to the question of legal aid at the appeals stage.

5.9 Access applications

104. The discussion on the inclusion of information on Access Applications ensued in the context of the debate concerning Preliminary Document No 5, Transfrontier Access / Contact and the *Hague Convention of 25 October 1980 on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction*. General consensus emerged that further work on Implementing Measures could address access / contact issues.

5.10 Aids to interpretation

105. There was general agreement that interpretative aids, including the use of supplementary sources, provide clarification as to the objectives of Convention provisions, and are of assistance when drafting implementing legislation and measures.

5.11 Facilitating acceptance of accessions

106. Article 38 of the Convention provides that any State that was not a Member of the Hague Conference on Private International Law on 25 October 1980 may accede to the Convention. However the accession will have effect only between the acceding State and those Contracting States which have formally declared their acceptance of the accession.

107. There are now 73 States Parties to the Convention; nearly one-third of those States have acceded to the Convention in the past five years. A number of Contracting States have developed evaluation procedures in order to determine the ability of a newly acceding State to carry out the duties required by the Convention. To facilitate the provision of information, the standard Questionnaire, drafted and approved at the Fourth Special Commission, is included in the Guide. The Permanent Bureau routinely transmits the Questionnaire to newly acceding States in order to gather information to facilitate their accession. The discussion indicated that the Questionnaire could be a source of information on a bilateral level.

5.12 Implementation: a continuing process

108. Discussion affirmed the importance for all States Parties to continue to monitor and improve the operation of the Convention domestically. All States Parties are encouraged to provide information, education and training to their national actors involved in Convention proceedings. The role of the Permanent Bureau in this regard was highlighted, including its role of monitoring and review of implementation, the holding of Special Commission meetings and providing information resources such as the Hague Conference website, the International Child Abduction Database (INCADAT) and the Judges' Newsletter for International Child Protection.

109. One expert stressed the importance of judicial education and training in States where the legal system did not permit concentration of jurisdiction. Such training programmes allow judges from many States to establish links that not only improve expertise, but also create relations of trust and confidence among these judges that could facilitate return proceedings. The use of technological means of communication was noted as a way in which to increase participation in legal education programmes.

5.13 Amendments

110. In respect of Working Document No 3, it was emphasised that the amendments to Preliminary Document No 4 were primarily to re-emphasise that the provisions of the Guide are not legally binding, but are intended to provide States with guidelines for effectively implementing the Convention.

111. Preliminary Document No 4 and the amendments proposed in Working Document No 3 were approved by the Special Commission.

6. PUBLICATION OF THE GUIDE

112. It was proposed that the final version of the Guide would be published in English, French and Spanish on the Hague Conference website and in hard copy in early 2003. The Special Commission approved the publication of both chapters of the Guide in the following terms:

"1(a) Publication: The Permanent Bureau is authorised, in preparing the Guide to Good Practice for publication, to make changes of an editorial nature, to update, where necessary, any factual information contained in the Guide, to determine the presentation of the material in the Guide, provided that this did not involve any changes in substance or emphasis and to prepare a general introduction to the Guide explaining its background."

7. TRANSFRONTIER ACCESS / CONTACT

7.1 Introduction

113. The Special Commission on General Affairs and Policy of the Hague Conference which met in May 2000 mandated the Permanent Bureau:

"To prepare by the Nineteenth Diplomatic Session of the Hague Conference a report on the desirability and potential usefulness of a protocol to the 1980 Convention that would provide in a more satisfactory and detailed manner than Article 21 of that Convention for the effective exercise of access / contact between children and their custodial and non-custodial parents in the context of international child abductions and parent relocations, and as an alternative to return requests."

114. Mr Duncan explained that in response to this mandate work had progressed on a continuous and consultative basis and he expressed appreciation for all comments that had been received. As part of the consultation process a Questionnaire had been circulated which laid the ground for a preliminary report which was presented to the Fourth Meeting of the Special Commission to review the operation of the 1980 Convention in March 2001. During a brief discussion at this Commission several delegates had emphasised the very serious nature of the problem and the need for an urgent response.

115. A Consultation Paper was subsequently sent out in January 2002, to obtain the views of Contracting States on possible approaches to the problem. The Permanent Bureau also attended many meetings and judicial and other seminars where this topic was discussed. This consultation process culminated in the Final Report on Transfrontier Access / Contact drawn up by William Duncan, Deputy Secretary General, which he presented to the Special Commission. The Special Commission welcomed the Report and Mr Duncan introduced the Report.

7.2 General nature of the problem and the role of the law

116. The resolution of the problem surrounding cross-frontier access is as difficult as it is urgent and important. What is at issue is the forging and maintenance of close human relationships and there are limits to what the law can achieve in matters of this kind. We would all prefer if possible that the law should not need to be invoked in an area where the exercise by parents of their responsibilities, in the interests of their children is the ideal. Indeed, section 16 of the Report which seeks to define the role of the law in this area, emphasises the provision of a framework which will encourage and support parental co-operation and agreement. The legal framework needs to be both fair and firm if it is to support co-operation and help to remove the insecurities and fears that often underlie parental disputes. Additionally, judges need the security of knowing that when they make contact orders, particularly in the context of permitting relocation by the custodial parent, the terms and conditions which they stipulate will be respected in the legal system where contact is to take place.

7.3 The role played by the 1980 Convention

117. Securing protection for rights of access in cross-frontier situations and effective respect for such rights is one of the objectives of the 1980 Convention. Certain elements of the Convention have played a very important part in achieving this objective, particularly the provisions of the Convention which provide for prompt return of the child in cases where wrongful retention occurs after a period of access. On the other hand, Article 21 of the

Convention which deals specifically with the organisation and securing of rights of access has, because of its uncertain language, not provided a firm basis in most Contracting States, either for defining the role and responsibility of Central Authorities or for defining the competence or powers of courts and tribunals in this area.

7.4 Rights of access: law and practice under the 1980 Convention

118. Chapter II of the Report analyses some of the case law and practice under Article 21 and shows why there are divergences in the interpretation and practices adopted under it. These differences relate to whether Article 21 provides any basis for court proceedings. A number of questions relating to this are raised in the chapter, *e.g.* if Article 21 does provide a basis for court proceedings, under what circumstances? Should it apply only in emergency cases? Should it apply only where an access order exists already? What are the appropriate procedures? Should there be a fast-track procedure? Should legal aid equivalent to that provided in abduction cases be available? There is even disagreement on whether Article 21 may be a basis for seeking interim access pending a decision on return.

119. The Report also highlights that relatively few access applications proceed under Article 21 and draws attention to "A Statistical Analysis of Applications made in 1999 under the *Hague Convention of 25 October 1980 on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction"* drawn up by Professor Nigel Lowe, where the ratio of abduction to access cases was 5:1. However, it was suggested that a number of return applications are possibly access applications in disguise. Additionally, the Study also showed that access applications take longer to process than return applications.

7.5 Elements of the framework for resolving international access / contact disputes

120. Chapter III of the Report steps back from the 1980 Convention and attempts to identify the wide range of elements that have a bearing on the solution to cross-frontier access / contact disputes. Mr Duncan highlighted that it is important to paint a complete picture, stressing that many of the elements are inter-related and that if law reform is to be successful these relationships need to be understood.

7.5.1 Jurisdiction, recognition and enforcement

121. The Report first addresses the area of jurisdiction, recognition and enforcement and emphasises the contribution that will be made when the 1996 Convention begins to operate more widely. That Convention provides a rational framework for the exercise of jurisdiction in this area. In particular it avoids competing jurisdictions. It provides for the recognition by operation of law and enforcement of access orders. It contains many provisions for international co-operation at both the administrative and judicial levels. Of particular importance in this regard are the provisions for the transfer of cases and the special provisions concerning access in Article 35.

7.5.2 National laws and procedures (including enforcement procedures)

122. The general principle of the right of the child to maintain contact with both parents is of course broadly accepted. But there is a difference in the weight attached in different

jurisdictions to the presumption in favour of contact by the non-custodial parent, particularly in cases where domestic violence has been alleged. The issue of enforcement is a difficult one and one which is subject to review with a view to reform in many countries. However, the evidence is that existing systems are not sufficiently sensitive to the special circumstances of international cases.

7.5.3 Important developments at regional and national levels

123. The important developments at the regional and national level were referred to by Mr Duncan, in particular the development by the Council of Europe of a Convention on Contact Concerning Children, designed among other things to create a more uniform approach within domestic law to issues of contact, and to encourage the use of safeguards and guarantees. He also referred to developments within the European Union, designed to ensure greater respect for access orders made among Member States. Reference was also made to the Franco-German Mediation Commission established in 1998 and to the recent bilateral negotiations that have been taking place between the United States of America and Germany.

7.6 Looking to the future

7.6.1 A binding instrument - a Protocol to the 1980 Convention

124. Turning to future action and the possible strategies to be adopted in resolving problems of international access, and particularly those which arise within the context of the 1980 Convention, the idea of a Protocol to the 1980 Convention was addressed. Mr Duncan pointed out that the responses to the Consultation Paper had shown a fairly widespread desire for more binding and effective rules in this area. At the same time the complications associated with the process of negotiating a Protocol were recognised. Mr Duncan suggested that the particular option of working on a new Protocol should not be embarked upon until work had been done on other fronts first. All contributors agreed that the use of a Protocol should be seen as a last resort, recognising the dangers of having too many competing instruments. The Special Commission concluded that:

"2(a) Transfrontier Access / Contact: It is premature to begin work on a Protocol to the 1980 Convention. If the alternative steps outlined below do not lead to significant improvements in practice, the issue of a Protocol should be revisited in the future."

7.6.2 The 1996 Hague Convention on the Protection of Children

125. The 1996 Convention, while not being a panacea for all the problems in this area, is an important part of the solution and it is clear that many States favour ratification.⁴ Mr Duncan suggested that the Special Commission should recommit itself to the implementation of the 1996 Convention by the Contracting States to the 1980 Convention. Many experts expressed their support for ratification / accession to the 1996 Convention. Indeed, some experts stated that the process of implementation had already begun in their States.⁵ Many experts expressed a desire that the European Union would be able to allow Member States to

⁴ As of 15 March 2003, the Protection of Children Convention of 1996 has 6 States Parties; the Czech Republic, Monaco, Morocco and Slovakia have ratified the Convention; Estonia and Ecuador have acceded to the Convention. An additional 3 countries (Latvia, the Netherlands and Poland) have signed, but not yet ratified the Convention. The 1996 Convention entered into force on 1 January 2002.

⁵ Legislation to implement the 1996 Convention has been introduced in Australia and implementing legislation has been passed by the Irish Parliament (Oireachtas). In Canada steps are also being taken to prepare the necessary implementing legislation. A uniform implementing act for the 1996 Convention, as well as one for *The Hague Convention of 13 January 2000 on the International Protection of Adults*, was drafted and adopted by the Uniform Law Conference of Canada (ULCC) in November 2001.

ratify this Convention soon. The Special Commission formulated the following conclusion on this issue:

"2(e) Transfrontier Access / Contact: It is recognised that the provisions of the Hague Convention of 19 October 1996 on Jurisdiction, Applicable Law, Recognition, Enforcement and Co-operation in respect of Parental Responsibility and Measures for the Protection of Children has the potential to make a substantial contribution to the solution of certain problems surrounding cross-frontier access / contact. Those States which have already agreed in principle to ratify or accede to the 1996 Convention are urged to proceed to ratification or accession with all due speed. Other States are strongly encouraged to consider the advantages of ratification or accession and implementation."

7.6.3 Non-binding Recommendations and/or a Guide to Good Practice

126. Mr Duncan turned to the possibility of formulating non-binding recommendations and / or a Guide to Good Practice. He noted the difficulties of this approach in relation to matters on which there are wide divergences in the interpretation of Article 21 of the 1980 Convention. It would be possible to collect together examples of the ways Article 21 is applied in practice. Many experts welcomed the Guide to Good Practice as a useful starting point and highlighted the importance of principles of good practice in this area. The Special Commission agreed that Chapter 5 of Preliminary Document No 3 on access / contact issues in relation to Central Authorities should be made on the difficult question of enforcement through the formulation of non-binding principles which draw attention to the special features of international cases. These principles could assist countries in formulating or applying domestic provisions, and would cover issues relating to time, distance and cost. On this point the Special Commission recommended that:

"2(d) Transfrontier Access / Contact: Work should begin on the formulation of general principles and considerations relevant to international access / contact cases. The idea is not to create a set of principles applying to access cases generally, but rather to draw attention to certain general considerations and special features, which need to be borne in mind by Contracting States and their authorities when formulating policies in respect of international access / contact cases. These general principles would not be binding; they would be advisory in nature. As well as offering general advice to States in formulating policy in this area, the general principles could be helpful to Central Authorities in informing their practice, they could possibly be helpful to the courts and other authorities, as well as to applicants as they present their cases."

7.6.4 Judicial Co-operation

127. Mr Duncan referred to the importance of judicial co-operation including meetings of judges from different countries and judicial training. An expert also noted that the difficulties with the interpretation of Article 21 are principally a common law problem which common law judges could assist in addressing without infringing upon the competence of the legislature or the executive. In relation to these issues, the Special Commission made the following conclusions:

"4. Judicial Seminars and The Judges' Newsletter: The meetings of judges from different jurisdictions foster international understanding, they promote judicial co-

operation and they help to spread helpful practices and precedents across jurisdictions. The Hague Conference should continue to remain active in this area, providing assistance where it is requested, supporting the development of judicial co-operation and communications, both generally and in the context of individual cases where required, and continuing publication of Judges' Newsletters on International Child Protection.

2(f) Transfrontier Access / Contact: The meeting notes and welcomes the readiness of judges from common law jurisdictions to tackle problems posed by conflicting interpretations of Article 21 in their jurisprudence by proposing a common law judicial congress."

7.6.5 Mediation

128. Finally, Mr Duncan referred to the importance of the work being done to develop mediation services in the context of disputes concerning international contact / access. Some experts also recognised the importance of mediation as one useful element with regard to international contact / access issues.

8. CHILD ABDUCTION AND TRANSFRONTIER ACCESS: BILATERAL CONVENTIONS AND ISLAMIC STATES

129. The Permanent Bureau has conducted some preliminary research on the issue of child abduction related to Islamic States culminating in Preliminary Document No 7, Child Abduction and Transfrontier Access: Bilateral Conventions and Islamic States - A Research Paper drawn up by Ms Caroline Gosselain. The Commission expressed gratitude to the Hague Conference for having put this topic on the agenda of the Special Commission.

130. Experts from States with experience regarding bilateral agreements were invited to share these experiences with the Commission. Experts from some States informed the Commission of bilateral agreements existing between their States and Islamic States. In this regard an expert from Sweden stated that Sweden and Tunisia had established an Advisory Commission concerned with the operation of their bilateral agreement of 1994, and that such a Commission was important in resolving individual cases. It was also noted that a bilateral agreement had been negotiated between Sweden and Egypt in 1996. An expert from Belgium referred to the co-operative relationship developed over many years between Belgium and Morocco and Tunisia, including the Belgian-Tunisian Commission instituted by administrative agreement.

131. It was noted that several States had approached the French Central Authority seeking advice on the possibility of entering into agreements with Islamic States. Experts from some other States highlighted that there had been little success in developing bilateral agreements. An expert from France noted that France preferred to have some kind of agreement even if it was imperfect, as opposed to no agreement.

132. An expert from Switzerland recognised that Switzerland preferred multilateral agreements but given current social trends, Switzerland had turned to bilateral agreements in order to address problems of abduction and access. It was noted that Switzerland and Lebanon are currently negotiating a bilateral agreement. It was suggested that bilateral agreements with Islamic States could be an important channel of communication, but that successful implementation depended on a number of factors which could best be addressed on a multilateral level. Several experts drew attention to the importance of continuing regular exchanges with Islamic States in order to maintain communication and understanding of their respective judicial systems. There was a general consensus that further research into the law of Islamic States would be beneficial.

133. Mr Duncan expressed the Permanent Bureau's willingness to continue to monitor developments and to disseminate information. He emphasised the need for more information on the functioning of bilateral agreements, especially from Islamic States.

134. In this respect an observer noted that existing bilateral agreements were used less and less frequently and that successful returns in many cases were the result not of the application of Conventions, but of reforms in family law within the Islamic States themselves. It was noted that 40% of the work done by her organisation involved non-Convention States, and that research would be published in 2004 or 2005 on this subject. With regard to research in relation to abductions to Pakistan from other *Sharia* law States, it was indicated that informal methods of assistance were frequently used. Pakistani courts give power to custody decisions issued by *Sharia* courts. It was suggested that States avail themselves of Islamic courts within their own territories, as these may be capable of assisting in the resolution of problems relating to abduction and access, whether through rulings or mediation. Most States have an Islamic Judicial Council and the International Bar Association had made a concerted effort to recruit association and individual membership from Islamic States.

135. Regarding the Hague Conference, the Secretary General Mr van Loon stated that a number of Islamic States had expressed interest in joining the Conference. Currently, Egypt, Morocco and Jordan are Member States and Malaysia has been admitted to become a Member. Mr van Loon stressed the importance of being certain that new Member States were ready to apply the rules of the Conference, and emphasised that the door was open to Islamic States. As to the Hague Conference's effort to attract Islamic States he made reference, among other things, to a Congress organised in co-operation with the University of Osnabrück on Islamic Law and its Reception by the Courts in the West, held in October 1998.

136. The Permanent Bureau agreed to act as a clearinghouse for information on the subject of Islamic States and requested delegations which had referred to documents not appearing in Preliminary Document No 7 or its annexes to forward these documents to the Permanent Bureau. It was noted that the judicial systems of Islamic States were not necessarily consistent with one another, and emphasised the importance of multilateral meetings in order to gather more information. Mr Duncan stressed that the Permanent Bureau would like to go further with their research. He noted that the second step would be to organise a regional meeting with experts, judges and practitioners from the concerned States. He emphasised that this process seeks to establish a mutual relation of trust between States having different legal cultures.

137. The Special Commission concluded that:

"3. Child Abduction, Transfrontier Access / Contact and Islamic States: The Permanent Bureau should continue the work it has begun concerning the development of co-operation between Islamic and other States in resolving problems of child abduction and transfrontier access / contact, including the analysis and review of the various bilateral agreements and arrangements that exist and exploration of the potential of a multilateral approach, including through the use of existing Hague Conventions."

9. PRACTICAL MECHANISMS FOR FACILITATING DIRECT INTERNATIONAL JUDICIAL COMMUNICATIONS IN THE CONTEXT OF THE HAGUE CONVENTION OF 25 OCTOBER 1980 ON THE CIVIL ASPECTS OF INTERNATIONAL CHILD ABDUCTION

9.1 Introduction

138. Mr Lortie introduced the discussion. During the Fourth Special Commission Meeting to review the practical operation of the 1980 Child Abduction Convention, held from 22-28 March 2001, the issue of the feasibility and limitations of direct international judicial communications and the development of a network of liaison judges was addressed in the context of issues surrounding the safe and prompt return of the child (and the custodial parent where relevant).

139. The value of such communications in ensuring a speedy and safe resolution of abduction cases has been well recognised by judges throughout the world at international judicial seminars such as De Ruwenberg 2000 and Washington 2000.⁶ Direct judicial communications have been used to secure the safe return of the child and the abducting parent,⁷ and have been helpful in discussing problems of delay and conflicting jurisdiction.⁸ Direct international judicial communications is a contemporary phenomenon.⁹

140. The following Conclusions and Recommendations adopted by the March 2001 Special Commission focus on international judicial communications between judges or between judges and other authorities:

"Direct judicial communications

5.5 Contracting States are encouraged to consider identifying a judge or judges or other persons or authorities able to facilitate at the international level communications between judges or between a judge and another authority.

5.6 Contracting States should actively encourage international judicial cooperation. This takes the form of attendance of judges at judicial conferences by exchanging ideas / communications with foreign judges or by explaining the possibilities of direct communication on specific cases.

In Contracting States in which direct judicial communications are practised, the following are commonly accepted safeguards:

- communications to be limited to logistical issues and the exchange of information;

- parties to be notified in advance of the nature of proposed communication;
- record to be kept of communications;
- confirmation of any agreement reached in writing;

⁶ The Conclusions and Recommendations of these seminars are available at:

<http://hcch.net/e/conventions/seminar.html>.

⁷ See the English High Court decision in *Re M and J* (Abduction) (International Judicial Collaboration) [1999] 3 FCR 721; Singer J. available at: http://incadat.com Reference HC/E/UKe 266.

⁸ See "Memoirs of a Liaison Judge", The Honourable Justice Joseph Kay, The Judges' Newsletter, Volume III, at 20-26.

⁹ Volume IV of The Judges' Newsletter focuses particularly on direct international judicial communications. All volumes of the Newsletter are available at: http://h

- parties or their representatives to be present in certain cases, e.g. via conference call facilities.

The Permanent Bureau should continue to explore the practical mechanisms for facilitating direct international judicial communications."

9.2 Developments following the March 2001 Special Commission

141. In relation to the first Conclusion and Recommendation (5.5), the delegations attending the September / October 2002 Special Commission noted that the international network of liaison judges, first proposed at the 1998 De Ruwenberg Seminar for judges on the international protection of children, has been steadily growing. The network currently includes: The Right Honourable Lord Justice Mathew Thorpe (Judge of the Court of Appeal, England and Wales), The Honourable Justice Joseph Kay (Judge of the Appeal Division of the Family Court of Australia), His Honour Judge Patrick Mahony (Principal Judge of the Family Court of New Zealand), The Honourable James Garbolino (Presiding Judge of the Superior Court of California, United States - informal designation), The Honourable Jacques Chamberland (Judge of the Court of Appeal of Québec, Canada - informal designation), The Honourable Justice Robyn Diamond (Judge of the Court of Queen's Bench of Manitoba, Canada - informal designation), His Excellency Justice Antonio Boggiano (Judge and former President of the Supreme Court of Argentina), Dr George A. Serghides (President of the Family Court of Limassol-Paphos, Cyprus), The Honourable Michael Kistrup (Judge of the City Court of Copenhagen, Denmark), The Honourable Lord Iain Bonomy (Judge of the Court of Session, Scotland), The Honourable Mr Justice Gillen (Judge of the High Court, Northern Ireland), The Honourable Justice Michael Hartmann (Judge of the High Court of the Special Administrative Region of Hong Kong – informal designation), and The Honourable Jónas Johannsson (Judge of the Héraósdómur Reykjaness Court, Iceland).¹⁰

142. As to the second Conclusion and Recommendation (5.6), an increase of judicial seminars was noted¹¹ and the organisation of and the attendance at those judicial seminars was strongly supported by delegations. Finally, in respect of the third Conclusion and Recommendation (5.7), a Questionnaire concerning practical mechanisms for facilitating direct international judicial communications in the context of the 1980 Convention (*see supra*) was circulated to Member States, Contracting States, and interested international governmental and non-governmental organisations in January 2002. The Questionnaire addresses the feasibility and / or desirability of the appointment of a liaison judge or authority, administrative aspects of direct international judicial communications, practical and legal aspects of such communications, and a number of general matters.¹²

9.3 **Presentation of the Preliminary Report**

143. Sixteen jurisdictions responded to the Questionnaire, namely, Austria, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Chile, China (Hong Kong Special Administrative Region), Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Iceland, the Netherlands, Poland, Switzerland, the United Kingdom (England and Wales, Northern Ireland and Scotland) and Uzbekistan, and one non-governmental international organisation, the International Centre for Missing and Exploited Children (ICMEC).

¹⁰ This list is updated as of 15 March 2003.

¹¹ See the list of seminars at <http://hcch.net/e/conventions/seminar.html>. A list of seminars is also available at paragraph 46 of the Preliminary Report.

¹² The Questionnaire may be accessed on the Conference website at:

<http://www.hcch.net/e/conventions/menu28e.html> and remains relevant for the continuation of the work on this issue.

On the basis of these responses to the Questionnaire, as well as information obtained from other sources, including judicial seminars in which the Permanent Bureau has been involved over recent years and articles from Volume III and IV of the Judges' Newsletter, Mr Lortie, First Secretary, has drawn up a Preliminary Report on the subject of direct international judicial communications in the context of the 1980 Convention.¹³

144. In essence, the Preliminary Report offers an inventory of the different mechanisms in place to facilitate direct international judicial communications. It also identifies the difficulties and constraints States and judges may have with regard to these mechanisms. Delegations recognised that the Preliminary Report will provide a valuable basis from which to continue to explore the practical mechanisms for facilitating direct international judicial communications.

9.4 The feasibility and/or desirability of the appointment of a liaison judge or authority; and the administrative aspects

145. Delegations present at the Special Commission noted that several liaison judges have already been appointed (*see supra*) and experience shows that neither objections nor insurmountable legal barriers stood in the way of nominating liaison judges. In relation to this latter issue, an expert queried who should be making the appointments: the judicial council or the Chief Judge of the jurisdiction. The discussion that followed clearly showed that nominations could be done in different ways, formally or informally, by the governments, *e.g.* a Central Authority, or the judiciary, *e.g.* the judicial council, the national association of judges or the Chief Judge of the jurisdiction, or by a combination of the two. It was noted that different formulas exist in this respect depending on the types of judicial systems and Central Authorities involved and their respective roles.

146. Many delegates discussed the number of liaison judges that might be appointed. Relevant factors included the number of jurisdictions within the State and the number of courts empowered to hear Convention applications. Some judges highlighted that the role of a liaison judge is not onerous. In the course of the discussion, some delegates indicated that judicial communications do occur both within their States and at an international level even where a liaison judge has not been appointed. Numerous delegates highlighted the two different aspects of judicial communications:

1) communications relating to the exchange of general information of law and procedure, and

2) communications on a case specific basis to resolve particular problems (*see infra*).

147. Concerning the first point, some delegates recognised that there are already some procedures in place to deal with the exchange of information, through the Central Authorities, or through other processes.

148. Some delegates stated that there could be some practical problems in establishing a network of liaison judges, particularly in respect of language limitations and difficulties in States where jurisdiction in Convention cases has not been concentrated in a small number of courts. In the case of language difficulties, one liaison judge reminded delegates that

¹³ The Preliminary Report may be accessed on the Hague Conference website at: <http://hcch.net/e/conventions/reports28e.html>.

communications in writing can, to a great extent, alleviate such problems. It was also noted that the role of liaison judge must complement and not detract from the important work of the Central Authorities. Many jurisdictions have also indicated in their responses to the Questionnaire that it is important to have a clear division of roles and responsibilities between the Central Authorities and the judges. It was suggested that a guide to good practice could be drawn up. However, other delegates noted that such a document must remain flexible.

149. Some delegates underlined that certain networks of judges either already exist or are in the process of being introduced. In this respect, an observer from the International Association of Women Judges (IAWJ) mentioned the existence of a network of 4000 judges from 79 different States and invited delegates to use this network to help to facilitate judicial communication. Furthermore, an observer from the European Commission reminded the delegates of the launching of the European Judicial Network on 1 December 2002.

150. Many delegates recognised the importance and influence of international judicial conferences and associations. It was noted that these conferences and associations were extremely valuable to facilitate the exchange of information. The wide support for paragraph 69 of Preliminary Document No 6 was recognised:

"All jurisdictions that have responded to the Questionnaire support the holding of more judicial and other seminars, both national and international."

151. It was understood that funding would be required in order for further seminars to take place. In this regard, gratitude was expressed towards the European Union who had in the past provided funding for several judicial conferences.

9.5 The practical and legal aspects

152. With regard to the practicalities and legal aspects surrounding direct international judicial communications, the Preliminary Report discusses some examples of communications within States and between States, and also considers some of the relevant case law in this area,¹⁴ as well as legal and procedural safeguards. Several delegates generally recognised that communications on specific cases must be transparent and due process requirements and other domestic procedural requirements must be respected. A delegate referred to the safeguards listed in paragraph 56 of the Preliminary Report and recognised that the list gave an excellent framework for communications.

9.6 Discussion of future work

153. With regard to future work, delegates discussed with interest the proposal to draw up non-binding guidelines in the area of direct judicial communications. Mr Lortie indicated that a broad perspective would need to be taken for such guidelines and that they would need to be flexible and inclusive. He suggested the establishment of an advisory group, primarily consisting of judges. The usefulness of such guidelines and the need to distinguish the general exchange of legal information from direct judicial communication in specific cases was recognised. Finally, it was agreed that the reference to the 1996 Convention within paragraph 102(e) was premature. It was noted that a great diversity exists in relation to judicial systems, types of Central Authorities and their respective roles, and, therefore, the need for flexibility must be taken into account in the drawing up of non-binding guidelines in this area.

¹⁴ Some of these interesting cases are available on INCADAT at: <http://www.incadat.com>.

154. The Special Commission adopted the following recommendation:

"The Permanent Bureau will:

(a) Continue the formal consultation with Member States of the Hague Conference as well as other States Parties to the 1980 Hague Convention, based on this Preliminary Report together with the Report that will be drawn up by the Permanent Bureau on the Conclusions and Recommendations of the Special Commission of September / October 2002.

(b) Continue informal consultations with interested judges based on this Preliminary Report together with the Report that will be drawn up by the Permanent Bureau on the Conclusions and Recommendations of the Special Commission of September / October 2002.

(c) Continue to examine the practical mechanisms and structures of a network of contact points to facilitate at the international level communications between judges or between a judge and another authority.

(*d*) Complete the Final Report that will include further analysis of policy issues and tentative conclusions.

(e) Draw up an inventory of existing practices relating to direct judicial communications in specific cases under the 1980 Hague Convention with the advice of a consultative group of experts drawn primarily from the judiciary."¹⁵

¹⁵ See Conclusion 5, 2002 Special Commission. It is the intention of the Permanent Bureau to finalise a Report on direct international judicial communications within the next 18 months in accordance with the Conclusions and Recommendations. Therefore, Member States of the Hague Conference on Private International Law and States Parties to the 1980 Convention which have not yet responded to the Questionnaire are invited to do so within twelve months. Interested international governmental and non-governmental organisations are invited to do the same. Furthermore, judges that may wish to discuss direct international judicial communications at their judicial seminars should consider inviting the Permanent Bureau to their discussions.

10. INCASTAT: DEVELOPMENT OF A STATISTICAL DATABASE

155. The Permanent Bureau obtained a mandate from the Fourth Meeting of the Special Commission to develop a statistical database of child abduction cases which would be accessible through the website of the Hague Conference. Conclusion 1.15 states:

"The Special Commission endorses the Permanent Bureau's plan to establish a statistical database as a complement to the International Child Abduction Database, and encourages Contracting States to consider methods by which the resources for the project may be made available."

156. Since the Fourth Special Commission in March 2001, the Canadian government has generously donated software and equipment to assist in developing the statistical database, with the involvement of Worldreach Software Corporation. Worldreach is a Canadian company which has developed a computer software package called iChild. A representative from the Canadian Government and two representatives from Worldreach demonstrated the iChild software at the Special Commission.

157. Since the Special Commission Meeting of September / October 2002, the Permanent Bureau has been involved in testing the case management software potential of iChild. The next stage of the project is to have the software tested by Central Authorities. A group of Central Authorities has been invited to participate in site trials which will begin in March 2003 and run for three months.

158. The September / October 2002 Special Commission adopted the following Conclusion:

"6. INCASTAT: With regard to the development of a database on the 1980 Hague Convention, the Meeting recognises the work begun by the Permanent Bureau, with the support of the Canadian Government and the WorldReach Software Corporation. It encourages the Permanent Bureau to continue these efforts in cooperation with Contracting States and their Central Authorities."

ANNEX 1 - CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

HAGUE CONFERENCE ON PRIVATE INTERNATIONAL LAW

Conclusions and Recommendations

Commission spéciale concernant la

Convention de La Haye du 25 octobre 1980 sur les

aspects civils de l'enlèvement international d'enfants

(du 27 septembre au 1er octobre 2002)

Special Commission concerning the

Hague Convention of 25 October 1980 on the

Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction

(27 September to 1 October 2002)

1. <u>GOOD PRACTICE GUIDE</u>

- (a) *Publication*: The Permanent Bureau is authorised, in preparing the Guide to Good Practice for publication, to make changes of an editorial nature, to update, where necessary, any factual information contained in the Guide, to determine the presentation of the material in the Guide, provided that this did not involve any changes in substance or emphasis and to prepare a general introduction to the Guide explaining its background.
- (b) *Preventive measures*: The Permanent Bureau should continue to gather information concerning the measures adopted in different Contracting States to prevent abductions from taking place. The experience of non-governmental organisations in this field should be taken into account. The Permanent Bureau should prepare a report on the subject with a view to the possible development of a Guide to Good Practice.
- (c) *Enforcement*: The Permanent Bureau should continue to gather information on the practice of the enforcement of return orders in different Contracting States. The Permanent Bureau should prepare a report on the subject with a view to the possible development of a Guide to Good Practice.

2. TRANSFRONTIER ACCESS / CONTACT

- (a) It is premature to begin work on a Protocol to the 1980 Convention. If the alternative steps outlined below do not lead to significant improvements in practice, the issue of a Protocol should be revisited in the future.
- (b) Chapter 5 of Preliminary Document No 3 should be retained subject to agreed modifications.
- (c) Work should continue on a separate chapter of the Guide to Good Practice relating to transfrontier access/contact in the context of the 1980 Convention with the following objectives:

- a. to promote consistent and best practices in relation to those matters which it is agreed fall within the competence and obligations of States Parties under the Convention,
- b. to provide examples of practice even in relation to matters which fall within the disputed areas of interpretation.
- (d) Work should begin on the formulation of general principles and considerations. The idea is not to create a set of principles applying to access cases generally, but rather to draw attention to certain general considerations and special features, which need to be borne in mind by Contracting States and their authorities when formulating policies in respect of international access / contact cases. These general principles would not be binding; they would be advisory in nature. As well as offering general advice to States in formulating policy in this area, the general principles could be helpful to Central Authorities in informing their practice, they could possibly be helpful to the courts and other authorities, as well as to applicants as they present their cases.
- (e) It is recognised that the provisions of the Hague Convention of 19 October 1996 on Jurisdiction, Applicable Law, Recognition, Enforcement and Cooperation in respect of Parental Responsibility and Measures for the Protection of Children has the potential to make a substantial contribution to the solution of certain problems surrounding cross-frontier access/contact. Those States which have already agreed in principle to ratify or accede to the 1996 Convention are urged to proceed to ratification or accession with all due speed. Other States are strongly encouraged to consider the advantages of ratification or accession and implementation.
- (f) The Meeting notes and welcomes the readiness of some judges from common law jurisdictions to tackle problems posed by conflicting interpretations of Article 21 in their jurisprudence by proposing a common law judicial congress.

3. <u>CHILD ABDUCTION, TRANSFRONTIER ACCESS / CONTACT AND ISLAMIC</u> <u>STATES</u>

The Permanent Bureau should continue the work it has begun concerning the development of co-operation between Islamic and other States in resolving problems of child abduction and transfrontier access/contact, including the analysis and review of the various bilateral agreements and arrangements that exist and exploration of the potential of a multilateral approach, including through the use of existing Hague Conventions.

4. JUDICIAL SEMINARS AND THE JUDGES' NEWSLETTER

The meetings of judges from different jurisdictions foster international understanding, they promote judicial co-operation and they help to spread helpful practices and precedents across jurisdictions. The Hague Conference should continue to remain active in this area, providing assistance where it is requested, supporting the development of judicial co-operation and communications, both generally and in the context of individual cases where required, and continuing publication of Judges' Newsletters on International Child Protection.

5. <u>PRACTICAL MECHANISMS FOR FACILITATING DIRECT INTERNATIONAL</u> <u>JUDICIAL COMMUNICATIONS IN THE CONTEXT OF THE HAGUE</u> <u>CONVENTION OF 25 OCTOBER 1980 ON THE CIVIL ASPECTS OF</u> <u>INTERNATIONAL CHILD ABDUCTION</u>

The Permanent Bureau will:

- (a) Continue the formal consultation with Member States of the Hague Conference as well as other States Parties to the 1980 Hague Convention, based on the Preliminary Report together with the Report that will be drawn up by the Permanent Bureau on the Conclusions and Recommendations of the Special Commission of September / October 2002.
- (b) Continue informal consultations with interested judges based on the Preliminary Report together with the Report that will be drawn up by the Permanent Bureau on the Conclusions and Recommendations of the Special Commission of September / October 2002.
- (c) Continue to examine the practical mechanisms and structures of a network of contact points to facilitate at the international level communications between judges or between a judge and another authority.
- (d) Complete the Final Report that will include further analysis of policy issues and tentative conclusions.
- (e) Draw up an inventory of existing practices relating to direct judicial communications in specific cases under the 1980 Hague Convention with the advice of a consultative group of experts drawn primarily from the judiciary.

6. <u>INCASTAT</u>

With regard to the development of a database on the 1980 Hague Convention, the Meeting recognises the work begun by the Permanent Bureau, with the support of the Canadian Government and the WorldReach Software Corporation. It encourages the Permanent Bureau to continue these efforts in co-operation with Contracting States and their Central Authorities.